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A. INTRODUCTION 

The certified questions from the United States District Court for 

the Western District of Washington present questions about the 

extratenitorial application of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, 

RCW 19.86.010 et seq. ("WCPA"): (1) Does the WCPA create a cause of 

action for a plaintifTresiding outside Washington to sue a Washington 

corporate defendant for allege<.Uy deceptive acts? and (2) Does the WCPA 

create a cause of action for an out~of~state plaintiff to sue an out-of-state 

defendant for the allegedly deceptive acts of its in-state agent? ("Order 

Certifying Questions to Washington Supreme Court",( A-3)). 

Since Seattle Serv. Bureau, Inc. ("SSB") is a Washington corporate 

defendant, only the f1rst question certified to this Court applies to SSB. 

SSB and State Farm agree that the WCP A does not create a cause of 

action for a plaintiff residing outside Washington to sue SSB, or any 

Washington corporate defendant for allegedly deceptive acts that occuned 

outside of Washin&,rton state. 

Accordingly~ the first question certified by the US District Court 

should be answered "no". 

As to the second question certified to this Court, SSB joins State 

Farm's position that the WCPA does not create a cause of action for an 
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out-of~state plaintiff to sue an out~of~state defendant for allegedly 

deceptive acts of its in-state agent. 

B. CERTIFIED QUESTIONS 

The United States District Court certified the following questions 

of state law for this Court's consideration: 

( 1) Does the Washington Consumer Protection Act create a 

cause of action for a plaintiff residing outside Washington to sue a 

Washington coqJorate defendant for allegedly deceptive acts? 

(2) Does the Washington Consumer Protection Act create a 

cause of action for an out-of-state plaintiff to sue an out-of-state defendant 

for allegedly deceptive acts of its in-state agent? 

C. STATEM.ENT OF THE CASE 

SSB is a Washington Corporation. ((A-1 ), Dkt. # 2, p. 5, ~ 3). 

State Farm's principal place of business is Illinois. (Dkt. # 2, p. 5, 

Plaintiff is a resident ofthe State of Texas (Dkt. # 2, p. 5, ~ 2). 

Plaintiffs son was involved in a motor vehicle accident in San 

Antonio, Texas with a motorist insured by State Farm. (Dkt. # 2, p. 5, ~~ 

6-7). 

As a result of the accident, State Farm paid for damages or repairs 

to the State Farm insured vehicle. (Dkt # 2, p. 6, ~ 8). 
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SSB mailed to Texas three demand letters, addressed to Plaintiff, 

and her son, for the claim assigned to SSB by State Farm. (Dkt. # 2, p. 6-

7, ~~ 9-12). 

Plaintiff filed a Class Action Complaint in King County, State of 

Washington against SSB and State Fann claiming the letters violated the 

WCP A. ("Dkt. # 2). Plaintiff also made a claim for unjust em·ichment. 

State Farm removed the Class Action Complaint to the US District 

Court for the Western District of Washington. 

In the US District Court, State Farm and SSB filed Motions to 

Dismiss and Motions to Strike Plaintiffs Class Action Complaint (Dkt. # 

9 and 12), claiming the WCP A does not apply to claims made by Plaintiff 

who is not a Washington citizen. 

The US District Court dismissed Plaintiffs claims for unjust 

enrichment, and certified questions to the Washington Supreme Couti. 

([)kt. # 41-42 (A~2 and A-3)). 

D. ARGUMENT 

1. A plaintiff residing outside Washington state cannot 
state a claim against a Washington corporate defendant 
for allegedly deceptive acts that occurred outside of 
Washington state. 

The WCPA does not·create a cause of action for a plaintiff residing 

outside Washington to sue SSB, or any Washington corporate defendant 
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for allegedly deceptive acts occurring outside the State of Washington 

because (1) Plaintiff cfmnot satisfy the trade/commerce element of a 

· W CPA action as SSB 's actions do not include any commerce that directly 

or indirectly affects the people of the State of Washington; and (2) 

Washington law does not apply. 

To prevail in a private action brought under the WCP A, the 

Plaintiff must establish that: (1) the defendant has engaged in an unfair or 

deceptive act or practice, (2) in trade or commer~e, (3) that impacts the 

public interest, ( 4) the Plaintiff has suffered injury in his or her business or 

property, and (5) a causal link exists between the unfair or deceptive act 

and the injury suffered. Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau, 131 

Wn.2d 133, 150, 930 P.2d 288, 296 (1997) .. 

"Trade" and "commerce" include "any commerce directly or 

indirectly affectirig the people of the state of Washington." RCW 

19.86.010 (2). 

An action by a plaintiff residing outside of the State of Washington 

for conduct occurring outside ofthe State of Washington, and for 

purported damage occu11·ing outside the State of Washington does not 

affect the people of the State of Washington. 

Plaintiff and the hann allegedly suffered by Plaintiff have no 

connection to Washington because (1) Plaintiff is a resident of Texas Dkt. 
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# 2, p. 5, ~ 2).; (2) The accident between Plaintiff's son and State Fann's 

insured occutTed in Texas Dkt. # 2, p. 5, ~ 6).; (3) The SSB letters were 

addressed to and sent to Plaintiff and her son in Texas Dkt. # 2, p. 6-7, ~~ 

9-13).; and (4) Any hann Plaintiff suffered occurred in Texas (Dkt. # 2, p. 

9, ~~ 20-21). 

Under these facts, Plaintiff cannot prove trade or commerce 

affecting the people ofthe State of Washington. As a result, an out-of·state 

Plaintiff cmmot satisfy the required elements of a WCP A claim for 

conduct occulTing outside the State of Washington. 

Therefore, the WCPA does not create a cause of action for a 

plaintiff residing outside Washington to sue a Washington corporate 

defendant f(Jr allegedly deceptive acts. 

2. Washington law does not apply to Plaintiff's claims. 

Washington iaw does not apply to Plaintiffs claims. 

In order to answer question one, and show that the WCP A does not 

create a cause of action for a plaintiff residing outside Washington to sue 

SSB, or any Washington corporate defendant for allegedly deceptive acts 

that occurred outside of Washington state because Washint:,rton law does 

not apply) it is necessary to refer to certain choice-of-law pr-inciples in 

order to interpret the application of the WCP A to an out-of-state plaintiff. 
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However, the answer to the question certified is not a choice-of­

law analysis. Plaintiff asserts that Washington law applies in her 

Complaint. Plaintiff does not assert any other State's law applies. 

Therefore, Plainti:tfhas made the choice of law that Plaintiff argues 

applies-....:washington law. In fact, Washington Jaw does not apply. 

Under Texas law, Plaintiff cannot state a claim for violation of the 

Texas Consumer Protection Act since Plaintiff is not a consumer. Tex. 

Bus. & Com. Code Ann.§ 17.45 (4) .. See also Tex. Bus. & Com. Code 

Ann. § 17.46 (a). 

Plaintifrs Action under the WCPA is based on Panag v. Farmers 

Ins. Co. ~fWn., 166 Wn.2d 27,204 P.3d 885 (2009). As a result, tl~re is 

a cont1ict in the law between Washington and Texas when the application 

of a Consumer Protection Act is concerned. 

In these situations, this Court determines which state has the most 

significant relationship to the action. FutureSelect Por(folio Mgmt., Inc. v. 

Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d 954, 967, 331 P.3d 29, 36 

(2014). 

To determine the jurisdiction with the most significant relationship 

to the dispute, the court considers (1) the place where plaintiff acted in 

reliance on the representation; (2) the place where the plaintiff received 

the representations; (3) the place where the defendant made the 
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representations; ( 4) the domicile, residence, nationality, place of 

incorporation, and place of business ofthe parties; (5) the place where a 

tangible thing, which is the subject of the transaction between the parties, 

was situated at the time; and (6) the place where the plaintiff is to render 

performance under a contract that he has been induced to enter by the false 

representations ofthe defendant. FutureSelect Por~folio Mgmt., Inc. v. 

Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d at 969. 

The answers to the considerations are as follows: (1) Texas is the 

place where Plaintiff acted in reliance on the representation (Dkt. # 2, p. 5 

,]2 and p. 6-7, ~f~ 9~ 12); (2) Texas is the place where Plaintiff received the 

representations (Dkt. # 2, p. 5 ~ 2 and p. 6-7, ~~ 9-12); (3) Texas is the 

place where SSB made the representations (SSB is located in Washington 

but the letters were sent to Texas so the representations were made in 

Texas when the letters were opened by P1aintif0 (Dkt. # 2, p. 5 ,]2 and p. 

6-7, ~~ 9-12); (4) Plaintiff resides in Texas and SSB is a Washington 

corporation (Dkt. # 2, p. 5 ~~ 2 and 3); (5) Texas is the place where the 

subject of the transaction between the parties occurred. The accident 

occurred in Texas. (Dkt. # 2, p. 5 ~~ 6-7); and (6) is not applicable 

because there is no contract. 

Texas has the most significant relationship under the FutureSelect 

Por(folio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., supra, factors such 
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that Washington law does not apply to a plaintiffresiding outside 

Washington to sue a Washington corporate defendant for allegedly 

deceptive acts that occurred outside the state of Washington. 

In the only case applying these principles to the WCP A, the US 

District Court for the Western District ofWashington found the home 

' states of the consumers have the most significant relationships such that 

the consumers' home states law applies, and not Washington law. Coe v. 

Phillips Oral Healthcare Inc., No. Cl3-518, 2014 US Dist. LEXIS 

146469 (W.D. Wash. Decided Oct. 10,2014 and Filed Oct. 14, 2014). 

The answer by this Court to the first question certified should he 

the same-the WCP A does not create a cause of action for a plaintiff 

residing outside Washington to sue a Washington corporate defendant for 

allegedly deceptive acts that occurred outside of the state ofWashington. 

This Comi should find that the hoine state of a plaintiff has the 

most significant relationship in a Consumer Protection Act c1aim such that 

Washington law does not apply. 
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E. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons outlined above, SSB respectfully requests that this 

Court answer the first question posed by the District Court, "No'\ and 

conclude that the WCP A does not create a cause of action for a plaintiff 

residing outside the state of Washington to sue SSB, or any Washington 

corporate defendant for allegedly deceptive acts occurring outside the 

State of Washington. 

Dated this 14th day of April, 201 S. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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$UPERIOR COURT CLE K 

Ei~FILED 
CASE NUMBER: 14·2-25641i SEA 

7 THESUPERlORGOURTFOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

8 

9 

IN AN]) FOR KING COUNTY 

SANDRA. C. THORNEL~, on oehaifof 
10 hetseif and all others similarly situated, 

11 

12 v .. 
Plaintiff, 

13 . SEATTLE SBRV. BUREAU, INC. d/b/a 
. NATIONAL SERV. BUREAU,. INC ..•. and 

14 STATE FARM MUT. AUTO.JN$. CO. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

Defendants. 

CLASS ACTIO}i 

CLAss A en oN CoMPLAINT FoR 
VlOLA'rlON OF THE WASlllNGtON 
CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, RCW 
§ 1.9.86.010, ITT SEQ. 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

19 Plaintiff makes the .following allegations upon inf(nmation and belief, predicated 

20 upon the inVestigation m'l.dertakert by and und~r the supervision of Plaintiff's counsel. 

21 Facts alleged concerning Plaintiff and her counsel are based upon personal knowledge. 

22 Plaintiff believes that further substantial evidentiary support will exist for the allegations 

23 set forth below after a reasQ11able opportunity 'for discovery. 

24 Plaintiff Sandra C. Thornell, on behalf of herself, and on behalf of all others 

25 similarly situated, by and through her attorney, complains agai11st Defendants as follows: 

26 
A-1 Page 2 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VlOLATlON OF THE WASHINGTON 

CONSUMERPROTECTJONAC'f, RCW § 19.86,010,ET.SEQ. 

HAMPTON DECLARATION RE 
STATE COURT RECORDS- 4 of 30 
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NATURE OF THE CASE 

This matter i$ brougl1t as a class action pursuant to Washington Superior 

~ ·· ·CouttCivil Rule23 on behalf of aU persons detmed below as the ';Class," asserting claims 

4 against Seattle Sc:rvice Bureau, Inc. d/b/a National Service Bureau, Inc. (and any other 

S assumed names that Seattle Service Bureau, Inc. uses) and State Farm Automobile 

6 Insurance Company, for violatiOJ\s of the Washington Consumer Protection Act ("CP N;), 

7' RCW § 19.86.010, .et st'!q, Plajntiffseeks, int?ralict; damages and injunctive relief. 

8 

9 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff Sandra C, Thornell is a resident of Sm1 Antonio, Bexar County, 

10 Texas. 

ll 3. Defendant Seattle Service Buteau, Inc. does business under the registered 

12 i1'ade name National ServiCe Buteau, Inc .. ('~Seattle Service Bureau") and is a domestic for~ 

13 profit corporation with its. principal place of business in Bothell, King County, 

14 Washington. 

15 4. Defendant State Farm Automobile Insurance Company ("State Farm") is 

16 . the largest au:tomobile insurer in the United States, with operations in all 50 states and the 

17 District of Coh1mbia. State Farm is a. for~profit mutual insurance company with its 

18 principal place ofbusiness in Bloomington, Illinois, 

19 

20 5. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction over the claims alleged herein pursuant to RCW 

21 § 2.08.010 and/or § 19.86.090. Venue is proper in King County pursuant to RCW § 

22 4.12.020 and/otRCW § 4.12.025. 

23 

24 6. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

On or about July .16, 2012, Plaintiff Thomcll's son Andrew Thomell was 

25 involved in a two~vehicle automobile accident in San Antonio, Texas. As a result of the 

26 accident, the two automobiles involved sustained damage. 
A-1 Page 3 
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1 7, At the time of the acpident, State Farm provided .automobile insurance, 

2: coverage applicable to the other vehicle{the "State Farm Insured'' vehicle).. 

3 8. Subsequent to the ,accident, State Farm allegedly paid some amount for 

4 damages and/or repairs made to the State Fann Insured, vehicle. 

5 9. By letter dated May 20, 2013, Seattle Service Butealt, ide11tifying itselfas a 

6 debt collector attempting to collect a debt, sent Plaintiff .and ,her son a. demand l(jltter 

7 i)eeking, to collect a "CLAIM AMOUNT DUE: $9,126.18". The demand letter went on to 

8 'say that State Pa11n ''has assigned this claim to our of:flcie to pursue ,colleotioM against 

9 yoiJ:," The "our offiee'' is identified in the demand letter as '"Nati011al Service Bureau, Inc. 

10 · Bonded Collection Service.!) The letter from Seattle Service Bureau states at top center: 

11 

l2
1 

n, 

14. 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 i 

20 

21 

22 

23; 

24; 

9. 

10. 

l\40TICEOF lt{SURANCE.<;;LAlM,YOU.()WE$9126.18 
IMMEDIATE ATTENTIONREQUll.tED 

The initiallett~r \:llso contained this "detach a11d retum,, payme11t slip: 

NSS li:J #: 2.1$Q2CI.i 

Total Amount O.uiiJ $lJ1lltM& 

National Sat'>Vten Jluruau, XM·· 
r.o.·!J()K ?If? 
l3ol:h!iU\ »A 'iiiOlJ),.i0?\1( 
llilul•,l.llm,lnluilllhuhnlllillliilllluilnilhlnl 

Seattle Service Bureau sent Plaintiff a second demand letter on or abdut 

25 
June 19, 2013, self~describcd as a 4~5~DAY N'Q'l''lCE" (bold lettering in all capitals and 

26 
A-1 Page 4 
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l underlined in original) again claiming a '1l;ALANC.E DQ~: ~~ .. 1'26.1~" (bold lettering in 

2 all capitals and underlined in original). 

3 11. Seattle Service Bureau sent Plaintiff a third demand letter on or about July 

4 19, 2013, this thnc self~described fu the caption as a "FINAL NOTICE AMOUNT DUE 

5 OF $91126.18 MUST BE PAID BY 07/29/13'; (bold and all capitalization in original). 

6 The letter stated that "In order to pr·event additional collection activity from our offic.e, 

7 please send your payment directly to NationalSI:}rvice :Bureau, Inc. Clahn#:53-16'4L-427 

8 or you may pay the .claim orilfne at http://11ayments.nsbi.net. Payt:ne.nt should be for 

9 $9,126.18." 

10 12. This "FINAL NOtiCE'' {hetein "FINAL NOTICE")l~Stter also said it was 

11 from a debt collector attempting to collect a debti and was signed by "JUDY NELSON, 

12 Collection Specialise>, and identified the "creditor" as State Farm Insurance Co, The 

13 ·.FINAL NOTICE lettetalso contain the detach andretl.lm payment slip: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

Pay online at. hUp:l/payments.nsbl.nal 
N.$'6 ftlth 2191l~06 

T.otal Amo.unt nuo: $912G;fs 

lfati~nt~l sarvJcll B.UMftlh lnc1 
tl.<i. U!>X 7WI .· . . . 
llpthall, iliA "J80ti:t-0747 
ll!loilultllnululonUll.oulnoltlullmlolullnilltlttf 

24 13. The alleged $9,126.14 debt that State I1ann, through Seattle Service B!.ltenu, 

25 asserts as the "AMOUNT DUE," however, was merely an unliquidated claim. 

26 . 14. Indeed, nt the time of the collection notices referenced above no potential 
A-1 Page 5 
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1. glaim of State Farm, or its :insured, haclbeeil reduced to a Judgment. 

2 15. In sum, at the time ofthe collection notices referenced above. Plaintiff was 

3 not in~ebt~d to State .Fann for anyamount ofmoJiey whatsoever. 

16. Even so; the collection notices referenced above were desigMd to appeal: as 

5 .a typical collection or "dunning~' l.etter. For example, the trade name of HNSB National 

6 Service Bureau/' was ptotnim.mtly displayed on the .letters at the top in over&ized, 

7: capitalized pdnt; all of the l.etters stateg that they were from a debt collector attempting to 

8 .•.collect a debti the initial1·etter stated that the debt collector provided statutory disclosures 

9 required by the Fair Debt Collectibn Practice Act, 1$ USC 1601, et seq., for "initial 

10 letters.'' Two of the letters o<mtained "detach and return" slips .attd 1'pay online'' 

.11· directions, similat to many ordinary :invoices for services, e.g. utility bills, m~dical bills, 

12 etc. as well as many typical oolle.cthtn letter :fol'11'1S. The la:;;t letter was signed by a 

13 "Collection Specialist'~ and the letter threaten "additional collection activity" if the alleged 

14 debt is not paid as demanded~ By all appearances, the collection notices referct1ced above 

15 · were typical collcctio11 agency dtuming letters that a consumer would receive fn. 

16 connection with an actual "debt'' owed as a resuJt.ofa consumer credit transaction, 

17 17. As Defendants well knew, however, the claimed "AMOUNT DUE:' w.as 

18 not a ''debt'' subject to "collectionY 

19: 18. In fact, at the time that Defendants began their self-described "collecti<m" 

20 · activity, State Farm possessed, at best, a potential, unliquidated claim based on a 

21 subrogated interest from its insured. 

22 19. The collection notices referenced above included a threat of possible loss of 

23 driver's lice:n.se "any tequest for claim verification may not prevent possible suspension of 

24 your driver's license and removal of your vehicle license plate registration .. , legal action 

25 and/or license suspension . . . if payment or other arrangements" were not made with 

26 regard to the purported "AMOUNT DUE". 
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1 20, As ,a result of Defendat1ts) series of qollection letters; Plaintiff became 

2 · concerned about her cre.dit tating. She obtained het credit reports to deter111ine whether 

3 , Defendants were tepotting the alleged debt on her credit file~ At het expense, PlaJntiff 

4 ento11ed in a credit monitoring program so that she could be nutified of chauges in her 

5 credit reports) including the reporting .of the alleged debt by State Fann. 

6 21. As a further result of Defendants' purported ''debt collectjon1
' activities, ~nd 

7 at additional expense, Plainti.ff sought and Tetained legal counsel experienced in debt 

8 !COllection and consumer protection laws. 

9 22. , By letter dated and mailed September 16, 2013, Plaintiff, through her 

rQ connsel1 wrote to Defendants and, int(jt ttlia, requested verification of the claimed debt. 

ll 23. Defendants• acts and practices in connection with theit purported 

12 ·,~'collection" efforts, as set forth above,, were and are unfair and deceptive. 

1;3 24, Defendants' unfair and deceJ?tive acts and practices,, as set forth above, have 

14 · injuted rmd continue to injure the public intexest 

15 2.5. As a result of their deceptive and unlawful conduct, Defendants have been 

16 unjustly enriched at the expense of i1;~dividuals across the United States who have paid 

17 Defendants i11 response to the letter notices, or who have otherwise incurred out of pocket 

18 e~penses to obtain c.redit reports, credit monitoring, pay for legal fees or 'Other similar 

19 1 ,expenses. Based on the appearance of obvious fonn letters being sent from Seattle Service 

20 Buteau to Plaintiff, on behalf of State Fann Insurance ~ a well-known national insurer, by 

21 a collector which on its website claims to collect debt nationwide (see www.nsbi.net), 

22. Plaintiff is informed and believes that Defend(1,nts have engaged 'in the same conduct with 

23 
1 
regard to the Class. 

24 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

.25 26. Plaintiff brings this &ction as a class action pursuant to\ Washington 

26 Superior Court Civil Rules, CR 23 {CR 23). Plaintiff asserts claims on behalf of herself, 
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l and on behalf ofa11 others similarly situated {the ''Class"). 

2, 27. The Class is comprised of the following: 

3 

4; 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

All persons against whom Defendants have utilized collection agencies 
and/or debt collection-type praotic~PS in, seeking to recover aruounts to 
which Defendants claim t'lntitle:ment as a rel;ult of a subrogated interest 
atising from the paytnent of a casuaJty claim, where the alleged amount 
dl.le has not been reduced to judgment. ' 

Ex:ch):ded fro:tn the Class 'are Defendants, any entity in which any 
Defendant has a controlling interest, a:nd the legal te,;iYresentatives, officers, 
directors, agents) successors~irt-iitterest and assiglis of any exclUded 
person or entity, 

28. The members of the Class are so numerous that the joinder of all members 

is impracticable. While the exact :rJJJ.niber ofClass member;s is unknown to Plaintiff at this 

time, the Class cati. be asoertain~:Jd through appropriate discovery. Plaintiff believes Class 

members number at least in the hundreds, if not tbousru:tds; and the dispositio11 of the 
13 

claims asserted herein through a .class 4ctitJln, rather than numerous individual actions1 will 
14, 

· benefit the parties and the Court. 
15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22. 

23 

24 

25 

26 

29. Questions of law and fact are common to the Class, including, but n()t 

limited to, the folloWi11g; 

a. Whether Det~ndal1t::l' COl}duct, as alleged l:l<::rein, constitutes 
deceptive, unlawful or Ul1faJr busi11ess practices in violation of the 
Washillgton ConsmnerProtectlouAot;, RCW'§ 19.86.010, et seq.; 

b. Whether Defendants' conduct, as alleged hereitt, has occurred in 
trade or commerce; 

c. Whether Defendants' conduct, as alleged herein, impacts the public 
interest; 

d, Whether Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to an award of 
damages and, if so, the proper method of measuring such damages; 

e. Whether Plaintiff and the Class are e11titled to treble damages 
pursuant to RCW § 19.86.090; 

A-1 Page 8 

CLASS AcrJON COMPLAINT F'OR VIOLATION OF THE WASHINGTON 
CONSUMER PROTECtiON ACT, RCW § 19.8(i.Ol0,ETSEQ. 

HAMPTON DECLARATION RE 
STATE COURT RECORDS- 10 of 30 

7 



1 ' 

2' 
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5 
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8, 

9 

10 

11 

12: 
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f. Whether Phiintiff and the Class are entitled. to attorneys~ fees 
pi.Irsvat1tto RCW § 19.$6.090; and 

g. Whether Plait>tif:f and· the Class are entitled to' injunctive ·relief or 
other equitable relief and, if so, the 1tature and scope of any such relief. 

30. Plaintiff's olaitns are typical of the claims of the members of the Class in 

that Plaintiff and the Class have all sustained damages resulting from Defendants' 

deceptive, unlawful and/or unfair business practices. 

Plaintiffwill fairly ~md adequately pt0tect the interests .Qf the members of 

the Class. Plaintiff is committed to the vigctrous prosecutiou of this action, and Plaintiff's 

interests do not conflict with the interests of the other metnbers of the Class. Mo:reovet, 

Plaintiffhas retained competent counsel experienced in complex class action litigation. 

32. This action may be maintained as a class action because, in. addition to 

satisfyin:g 1l1e reqdirements of CR. 23(a)> questions of law :and fact common to the Class 

,predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class me1nbets, and a class 
14 

action is superior to other available m.ethods foi: the fair and efficient adjudication of this 
15. 

16 

17 

l8-

19 

zo: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

controversy. 

33. A class action·is superior to individual actions because the number of Class 

members is believed to be large and concentrating the litigation of the claims in a single 

f'0111111 is d<;~sirable for all parties and !he COurt. Because the damages suffered by 

individual Class members may be relatively modest, the expense and burden of individual 

litigation would make it economically unreasonable for Class members to individually 

redress the wrongs fl,lleged. Plaintiff foresees no difficul(y in the management of this 

matter sufficient to preclude its maintenance as a class action. 

34. This action may also be maintained as a c1ass action because, in addition to 

satisfying the requirements of CR 23(a), Defendants have acted or refused to act on 

grounds generally applicable to the Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive 
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1· relief or corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole; 

2 

3 

COUNT ONE 

(Violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act) 

4 35. Plaintiffhereby in~orporates by reference eacn ofthe preceding allegations 

5 . as though fully set fotih herein. 

6. 36. This cause of action is .brought pursuant to the Washington Consumet 

7 Protection A:ct, RCW § 19.86.010, et seq. 

8 37. At the titne that State Fa:nn retained St1attle Service l3u:reau to putsue 

9, collection activity against Plaintiff, both State Farm. and Se~rttle Service Bureau Jmew that 

10 there did not exist a liquidated amount of indebtedness lawfully owing from Plaintiff to 

ll State Farm. 

12. 38. In fact, as a result of being the msin·er for o1ie of the vehicles involved in 

13 the July l(); 2012 automobile accident, State Farm had, at best, a subrogationinterest in the 

14 possible claiJ:ns of its insured, Indeed, as a result of the auton1obile accident, State Farm's 

15 i, own insured had, at best, a possible claim against Plaintiff. 

16 39. At the time that State Fann retained Defendant Seattle Service Bureau to 

17i pursue collectio11 activity against Plaintiff, State Farm and Seattle Service ,Bureau each 

18 knew that there was not}}ing rnore than a possible claim that could be asserted; but which 

19 would 11eed to be proven in a court oflaw before anything was actually oWed by Plaintiff. 

20, 40. Nevertheless, Seattle Service Bureau represented the purported amount 

21 "AMOUNT DUE" to the Plaintiffas a debt being pursued, and subject to collection, by a 

24 . debt collector through the debt collection process. 

23 41. Seattle Service Bureau presented the claim as a debt being pursued by a 

24 debt collector in order to intimidate and coerce Plaintiff into paying, playing on the fears 

25 engendered by the prospect of debt collection activity (e.g., potential negative impact on 

26 Plailitiff's credit rating, prospect of incurring interest, attorney's and collection fees). 
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1 42. ln addition, Seattle Service Bureau presented the Claim to Plaintiff in tl1e 

2 described format and manner in ordet to deceive Plaintiff h1to believing that she 

3 indisputably owed the amount claimed, and that State Farrt1 was unquestionably entitled to 

4 recover it from her- neither ofwbioh was or is tme. 

51 43. In short, Se;:ttt1e Service Bureau engaged in tlle fotegoing unfair and 

6 deceptive behavior in an attempt to take advantage of the ignorance and fear of lay 

7 consume1's, snch as Plaintiff~ in 01~der to circumvent the necessity of actually establishing 

8 thmugh the, legal system that Plaintiffowed State Eam1 anything whatso.ever. 

9 44. By committing the foregoing acts and practices, as alleged herein, 

10 Defendants have engaged in unfuir and deceptive acts and practic~s that have impacted the 

11 'public interest and caused injury and/or damages to Plaintiff and the Class, and thereby 

12 ,violated the Consumer Protection Act in th\'l manner set forth herei.n. 

13 4:5. As a result, Plaintiff and the Class a:re entitled to .recover their damages 

14 from the Defendants, ih an amount to be proven at triaL FurtheJ:1)1ore, purstmnt to RCW § 

15 19.86.090, Plaintiff and the Class ate e11titled to a trebling of their proven damages. 

16 46, Plaintiff and the Class are also entitled to the award ()f attorneys' fees 

17 , pursuant to RCW § 19.86.090. 

18 47. In addition, Plaintiff and the Class are entitled to ;:nt order, inter alia; 

19 declaring Defendants' conduct unlawful, and permanently enjoining. Defendants from 

20 fu1iher vio.lations of the Consumer Protection Act. 

21 

22 

23 4&. 

COUNT TWO 

(Unjust Endchment) 

Plaintiff hereby incorporates by i'eference each of the preceding allegations 

24 as though fully set forth herein. 

25 49. As set forth above, as a direct and proximate result of Defendants' unlawful 

26 and deceptive conduct, Defendants have been unjustly emiched to the extent any members 
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of the Class have paM money to eithj;it Defendant as a result of their unf£tit, deceptive, and 

2 .unlawful ''debt oallecthn'' activities. 

3 .50. As a result, Pliuntiff' at\d the Class ate ~ntitled to recover- such damages 

4 and/or restitution ftom the Defendants, in an amount to be proven attrial. 

5 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

6 Plaintiff, on behalfofherself and all others similarly situated requests ofth::ls Courl 

7 ,the following relief: 

8 

9 

10 

ll 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

a. An order certifyirtg the pt'dposed. Plaintiff Class herein~ !it1d 
appointing Plah:ltiff.and.her counsel ofrecord·to. represe:tltthe Class; 

b. An order declaring that the conduct and actions of 
Defendants complained of herein are unlawful, and in vioiation of the 
Washington ConsumerProte.ction Act, RCW § 19.86.010, e:t seq;; 

c. An otder d~olarh1g that the Defendants have been ~unjustly 
enriched as a result of their U11lawfu1 ceon.duct, as complained of herein; 

d. An order that pennanently et:Uoins Defendants, and their 
agetits~ from further violating the Washington Consumet Protection Act, 
RCW § 19.86.010j etseq.,.inthe manner·setforthherein; 

e. An award of damages to Plaintiff and the Class, including 
actual damages arid/or damages or restitution for and to the extent of 
Defendants' unjust eni'ichinent, all in art amount as is proven at trial; 

f. An award of treble damages, pursuant to RCW § 19.86.090; 

g. An award of prejudgment interest and costs of suit; 
including expert witness fees; 

h. An award of attorneys' fees and expenses, pursuant to RCW 
§ 19.86.090; and 

i. Streb other and fnrther legal a11d equitable relief as this 
Court may deern proper. 
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DATED: September , 2014 
2. 

3 

4 

5: 
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13 
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19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

R~nectfully submitted, 

tsl Michael L. Mtu:phy 
MiehaelL.Murphy;.WA Bat\ No.37481 
Jamt:Js L. J(auffrrtttn: 
B~\ti~y'& .Qlasser LLP 
t\1 11 ·1·7tit 6 · · ·N'w· s· •t· g·oo J!."v , ·<i,ltreet, ..... , me .. · 
Washington, DC 20006 
Telephon¢; (202} 463~2101 
Fax.: (202)46'3,.2102 
nwumhy@baileyglasser.com 
'!kailffinan@bailmlassei\cgm 

Coutiselfor Plt#nttjf 
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UNlTED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT SEATTLE 

SANDRA THORNELL, 

Plaintiff, 

CASE NO. C14-1601 MJP 

ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS 
AND MOTION TO STRIKE 

12 y, 

13 SEATTLE SERV. BUREAU, INC., and 
STATE FARM MUT. AUTO INS. CO .• 

14 
Defendants, 

16 
THIS MATTER comes before the Court on Defendant State Farm Mutual Automobile 

17 
Insuran.ce Company's ("State Farm~s'') Motion to Dismiss and Motion to Strike (Dkt No. 9) and 

18 
Defendant Seattle Service ButeQ.u's ("SSB 's") Joinder in State Fann 's Motion to Dismiss and 

19 
Motion to Strike (Dkt. No. 12). Having reviewed the motions, Plaintiffs Response (Dkt, No. 

20 
18), Defendants' Replies (Dkt. Nos. 201, 22), and a11 related papers, the Court hereby GRANTS 

21 
the Motions in part and DENIES them in part. In a separate order, the Court will certify 

22 
questions to the Washington Supreme Court and stay the remainder of the case. 

23 A-2 Page 2 

24 

ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS AND 
M\YriONTO STRlKE-1 



case 2:14"'cv-01601-MJP Document 41 Filed 03/0Ei/15 Page 2 of 11 

1 Background 

2 P1ahttiff Sandra Thomell, a resident of Texas, brings this putative class action allegilig 

3 : unjust enrichment and Washington Consumer Protection Act violations against State Farm,. an 

4 IUinois corporaJion, a.nd Seattle Service Htn~eau, a Washington cotporation, (See. Dkt. No. l, .Ex. 

5 ' A at 3 .) According to the Complaint, the violations stem from an allegedly deqeptivv practice by 

6 State Fac11:n oheferrin,g unliquidated subrogation claims to SSB, which then sends debt colle.ction 

7 'lettets de1nandii1g a specified sum to persons against whom the claims could be brought. (See id .. 

9 Plaintiff further alleges she enrolled in a credit monitoring program at her expense and 

10 sought and retained qounsel as a result of the debt collection letters she received from SSB on 

11 behalf of State Farm. (I d. at 7,) She does not allege that she remitted payments to SSB or State 

12 Farm in response to the letters. 

u: 

14 I. Legal Standard 

Analysis 

15 The Federal Rules require a plaintiff to plead "a short and plain statement of the claim 

16 · showilrg that [she] is entitled to reHef.'l Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2), ''To survive a ntotion to dismiss, 

17 · a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted a:s truel to 'state a. claim to relief that 

18. is plausible on its face: "Ashcroft v.Ishal, 556 U.s. 662, 678.(2009) (citingllell :Atl. eot}J; ¥.. 

19 Twombl¥. 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A claim is plausible "when the plaintiff pleads factual 

20 content that allows the court to draw the reasonable inference that the defendant is liable for the 

21 conduct alleged.;' Iqbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing Twombly:, 550 U.S. at 545). In determining 

2.2 plausibility, the Court accepts all facts in the Complaint as true. _Bru'kerv. Riverside Cnty. Otflce 

23 

24 
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1 ,QfEduc., 584 F.3d 821, 824 (9th Cir. 2009). The Cout1:t1eednot a~ceptastrue MY legal 

2 'conolusions put forth by the plaintiff Iqbal, 556 U.S. at678. 

3 II. Vicarious Liability by State Farm 

4 Defendant State Fam1 first assert$ it is notdil·ectly or vicariously liable for the acttcms of 

5 SSB. (Dkt. No. 9 at 6'--9.) Plaintiffargues State Farm is liable for the content of the letters sent by 

6 Seattle Service Bureau because SSB was State Farh1's agetit, SSE acted in concerl with State 

7 .Fatn1, at1d/orStateFarmratif1edthe conductt)fSSB. (Dkt. No, 18 at 9-11,) 

8 According to the· state court Complaint, SSB sent the demand letters. (Dkt. No. 1 .. 1 at 4,..... 

9 5.) In the letters, SSB allegedly stated that ''State Fapn 'has assigned this claim to our office to 

10 pursue collections agai:nst you.'" (Id. at 4.) However, in the letter labeled "FINAL NOTICE;" 

11 ,State Farm was identified as the ''creditor." (Ish at 5.)The Complaint also describes the activities 

12 of the two entities as joint actions. ~See, e•Eb id. at 5 ("[A]t the time that Defe:udants began their 

13 self~descdbed 4 collection' activity, State Farm possessed, at hest, a potential, unliquidated claim 

14 based on a subrogated intetest from its insured.").) 

15 State Farm notes Washington courts have not autotnatically inferred a11 agency 

16 relationship between insurers and debt collectors, drawing a distinction between responsibility 

J 7 for the deceptive form of collection letters and the mete fact that an insurer deputized a debt 

18 collector to attempt to collect on or settle subrogated claims .. At the summary judgment stage of a 

19 similar lawsuit, the Washington Court of Appeals held that "the practice of referring a 

20 subrogation interest to a debt collector does not by itself have the capacity to deceive a 

21 substantial portion ofthe public. [The collector] could have sent out [non-deceptive] letters like 

22 [the insurer's]." Stephens v. 011U'!i Tt1s. G!ti,, 138 Wtt.App. 151, 182 {2007), :af:rd on other 

23 ,g~:out:ttlitJ:ty P.~§:n~g v, Jifarmets Ins, Co. o:f:V\I¥rsh.f3.t~~ 4Vn.2d 27 (2009). Defendant therefore urges 

24 

ORDER ON MOtiON TO DISMISS .AND 
MOTION TO STRIKE- 3 



Case 2:14-cv~o1601-MJP Document 41 Filed 03/0'6/15 Page 4 of 11 

1 the Court to hold that a cotnplaitJ;t alleging referral without more does not state facts snfficient to 

2 withstand motion to dismiss, (See Dkt. No. 9 at 7.) 

3 State Farm relies on the description of the relationship between SSB and State Farm 

4 corttah1ed within the letters quoted in the complaint, hpt the letters. characterization of the, 

5 relationship as one of potentially am1s' -length "assignment'~(~ Dkt. No. l, Ex:. A at 4) is not 

6 inherently persuasive1 since the lettets themselvqs are alleged tohe deceptive. In lig11t of 

7 'Defendanf s comparison nfthis factual scenario with that des,cribed in Stephens, a mo.t'e rational 

8 , 'inference is that State Fann "referred an unliquidated subrogration claim1
' to SSB instead of 

9 assigning or selling the clairn h1 exchange foJ.· money up front and washing its hands pf later 

10 collection efforts. (See Dkt. No, 21 at 4.) An inference ofa continuing relationship is also 

11 supported by a declaration submitted by State Farm in support of federal judsdiction: a State 

12 Farm employee states that "Within the lastfour years~ Defendant Seattle Service Buteau [, , .] 

13 has collected and remitted at least$6,352,194 to State Fatm in connection with appro~hnately 

14 26;273 uninsured claims assigned throughout the 50 states.'' {Fuchs Decl., Dkt. No. 3 at 2.) That 

15 ernployee also desclibes his duties as including "the vendor management program hnrolving 

16 .referrals of subrogation claims to collection agencies.'' (Id. at L) (Consideration ofthis extrinsic 

17 evidence ,is more appropriiJ.te to the juris.dictional question than the sufficiency ofthe complaint, 

18 but since the evidence cannot be reasonably questioned by State Farm, who offered it, it would 

19 be artificial to draw a conclusion contradicting it during the analysis of the motion to dismiss. 

20 SeeW~tren v. Fo»:FamilyJMotldwlde. I:tt(.i.., 328 F.3d 1136, 1141n.5 (9th Cir. 2003).) 

21 Through the Complainfs allegations that State Farm and Seattle Service Bureau acted in 

22 · concert, Plaintiff plausibly alleges an agency relationship between State Farm and its vendor. In 

23 

24 
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1 · accordance With t?tiimhens, additional evidence to support these allegations will be necessary to 

2 demonstrate .agency at the summary judgment stage; 

3 III. E:x,traterritodality 

4 Defendant State Farm arg;Ues the Washington Constnnet Protection Act does not apply to · 

5 claims made by plaintiffs who ate not Washington citizens, particularly against non~ Washington 

6 corporations. ~Dkt. No. 9 at 8-13.) Defendant Seattle Service Bureau Hincorporates the 

7' arguntents made by State Farm on this topic'' {Dl<t. No .. 12 at$) and further argues· that Texas 

8 ' law should conttol. (Dkt. No. 22 at L) Here, Plaintiff is from Texas and State Fann is anJllinois 

9 ·corporation. However, Seattle Service Bureau is a Washington corpot•ation. 

A. StateFann 

11 The Washington Supreme Court opinion cited by State Patin in support of its argnment 

12 that the WCPA cartnot be applied extraterdtoria11y was later withdrawn by the Supreme Court. 

1.3 ' See:Schiial1 v .. AT&T Wireless Servs, Inc.) 168 Wn.2,d 125, 142 (2010) ("Schnall r'), ppiri!O]l 

14 : :yyithd,rruvn UJ2011 reconsiderationb¥ $clma11 V; b T&T Witel,ess Servs. lnc., 171 Wn.2d 260 

15 (20 11) {"Schnall II''}. In addition, the superseding opinion contains the dissen:ting opiniot1 of 

16 three justices who would have specifically held that claims against Washihgton corporatiOi'ls are 

17 cogtiizable under the WCP A, while the majodty declined to reach the issue. See Schnall II, 171 

18 W n.2d 260, 287 (opinion of Sanders, J. ). The dissehtingjustices though tit was important that 

19 "[a]tleast one party [in the case] is native to Washington in every transaction here}' Id. 

20 Plaintiff points out that in the wake of Schnallll, several judges in this District h~W<:J held 

21 that the WCPA has exttaterritorial application to claim~ by out~of~state plaintiffs against 

22 Washington corporations based on the understood state of the law prior to Schnall I. (Dkt. No. 18 

23 at'l7.) ,,See;.e.g., .KelthJ)rv~ Ir1telius Inc., NA-~<:&lg4g)SRSL, 2011 WL 2790471, *1 (W.O. Wash. 

24 
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1 May 17, 2011); l~!jagopalany, NoteWodd, LLC~ No .. G11-05574BHS, 2012 WL 727075, *5 & 

2 :n.6 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 6, 2012);J?eterson '\t.~0,ehAssocs; ;No. llJLt~. P.mnershiJ,J,No. Cll~ 

3 • 5069BHS, 2012 WL 254264, *2 (W..D. Wash. Jan. 26, 2012). This case, however, relates to an 

4 ·Illinois defei1dartt and its alleged Washington agent. No case specifically holds that the WCPA 

5 applies to a foreign plaintiffs suit against a foreign corporation, evei1 one that hired a 

6 Washington·vendot to pursue the. conduct at issue. 

7 State Fann also fl:sks in the alternative that the extraterritoriality question be certified to 

8 the Wash.ingtm1 Supreme Court. Certification ofthe question of the WCPA"s application to out~ 

9 ' of:·state plaintiffs,. out~of-state. def¢ndants, or both, is, appropriate in this context. See Jied LiQn 

10 ;licr~;clsFrat'!ehisirtg, Inc."v.Mf\J{, LLC, 663 F.3d 1080, 1091 (9th Cir. 2011) (describing the 

ll ('}xtratetritorial reach of the W CPA as an open question); K:e!Ystoi1e Lat1d & Oev. Co. y, ~erox 

12 Co., 3.5.3 F.Sd 1093~ 1097 (9th,Cir. 2003) Qmlding that where the availability of a claim has not 

l3 · been decided by the Washington S,upreme Court and, where the answer to aoertified question 

14 would have fair~ reaching effects on those who contract in, or are subject to, Washington law, 

15· certification is appropriate}. Anordet certifying.questions will follow. Because the primary 

16 question at issue here concerns statutory i11terpretation, the Coutt does not reach the due process 

17 question as applied to State Farm. 

18 B. Seattle Service Bureau 

19 SSB) a Washington corporation, joins State Farm's brief on extraten'itoriality and 

20 expands on the choice~of~law argument in its reply. (Dkt. No. 12 at 3; Dkt. NQ. 22 at 2-3.) In its 

21 Motion, State Fam1 cites Allstate ltis. Co. y. H!Xgtie regarding the constitutional choice oflaw 

22 standard: "[F]or a State's substantive law to be selected [and applied to a particular case] in a 

23 constitutionally permissible manner, that 8\afi:l Raga lnave a significant contact or significant 

24 

ORDER ON MOTION TO DISMISS AND 
MOTION TO STRIKE- 6 



Case 2:14~cv~01601-MJP Document 41 Filed 03/06/15 Page 7 of 11 

1 aggregation ofcontacts, creating state interests; such that choice of its law is neither arbitrary nor 

2 fundamentally unfair/' 449 U.S. 302, 312-13 ( 1981 ). PlainJiffargues the state of Washington has 

3 a significant contact with the allegedly deceptive conduct ofSSB where SSB is a Washington 

4 corporation, the letters Were presumably composed in Washington, and the letters asked that 

5 payments be remitted to a post office box in Washlngtcm. (Okt. No, 18 at 13.) The Court agrees 

· 6 that these contacts at•e sufficiently significant to apply Washington law at this stage of the 

7 proceedings, bttt the open qvestion about extraterritorial application to an out~of-state plaintiff 

8 remains. 

9, SSB also points to the choice-of;.Jaw rules applicable in this Court to argue Texas law 

10 should apply here. (See Dkt. No. 22 at2.) A federal court sitting in diversity applies the choice-

11 of .. law rules of its foru,m state.Atl.:ry.rarine.Q<mst·Co., Jnc.v.JJ.S. DistCotlrtfoi·.Western Dist., 

12, ofTex,, 14 S.Ct. 56.8, 582 (2013). Washington uses a two-step approach to choice-ot'.;;law 

13 questi011s, I{elley v.Mietosoftdor~,, 251 F,R.D. 544, 550 (W.D.Wash.2008). Fitst, courts 

14 detertn:irte whether,an actual confljct between Washington and other applicable state law exists. 

l5 Id. A conflipt eJ:{lsts when the variou.s states' laws could produce different outcomes on the same 

16 legallssue.ld. In the absence of a conflict, Washington law applies.ld. If a conflict exjsts, courts, 

17 then determine the forum that has the "most significant telationship" to the action to determine 

18 the applicable law. ld. 

19 Assumir,tg without deciding that a conflict exists because the question has not been 

20 briefed in any detail, the Court concludes that the final choice-of-law analysis depends on factual 

21 issues and declines to decide the issue at this stage in the proceeding. See Southwell v. Widing 

22 Transp., 101 Wn.2d 200, 207-'08 (1984) ("An unsubstantiated claim by a plaintiff( ... ] does not 

23 

24 
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1 provide a sufficient factTJal basis for tb.is court to evaluate the significance of all the contacts with 

2 concerned jutisdictions."). 

3 For the same reasons discussed in the State Farm section~ the Court will certify to the 

4 Washington Supreme Court the question of the extraterritorial application of the WCPA to the 

5 .factual scenarios involving SSB. 

6 IV. Unjustfinrichment 

7 .Sta:te Fatm and SSB atgue Plaintiff's unJust em'ichment claim fails because Plaintiff 

8 cannot allege she eonfetred any btmefit ottStateFatm (orSSB). (See Dkt. No.9 at 13; Dkt. No. 

9 12. at 3 .) H.ere, Plaintiff does not allege she made a payment in response to the SS'B letters, but 

10 simply alleges that she purchased a credit monitoringprogram.and consulted with legal counsel. 

11 (Dkt. No.2 at 9.) Plaintiff counters that State Farm and SSB benefi:tted·fro111 their deceptive 

12 letters regardless of whether Plaintiff herself contributed to that benefit. (Dkt. No. 18 at 19.} 

13 Under Washington law, unjust enrichlti:.ent occurs when there is "a benefit conferred upn.n .· 

14 'the defeJ:ida11t by the plaintiff; an appreciation or knowledge by the defendant ofthe benefit; and 

15· the acceptance or retention by the defendant ofthe benefit under such circumstanves as to make 

' 
16 dt inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit withouti:he payment of its value/' Young v~ 

17, Ym;ti1g, 164 Wn.2d 477, 484 (2008). Under Illinois law, which Plaintiffraises in its Response 

18 . with reference to State Farm (an Illinois corporation), "[t]o state a cause of action bas.ed on the 

19 'theory of unjust enrichment, a plaintiff must allege thatthe defendant has unjustlyretairied a 

20 bettefit to the plaintiff's detriment, and that the defendant's retention of that benefit violates 

21 fundamental principles of justice, equity, and good conscience." .firemen "s Anir~8C Benefit 

22 :~:;Vill~f<tf C:lty t3fChioago -y. MutricipalBnu:ilc>~s\ Officers', & Officials' All11Uity ~Benefit 

23 flvrrtdpl'Clhicago~ 579 N.E.2d 1003, 1007 (li±2AIP:lge1991). However, unjust emichm.ent is not 

24 
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1 available as a separate claim under Illiuois Jaw; it is merely a remedy for other causes a faction, 

2 Chigago Title Iits. Co. v. Teachers' RetirementSystem ofState ofllL, 7 N.E.3d 1"9, 24 (Ill. App. 

3 2014). 

4 • State Fann is correct that whatever benefit it allegedly retained was not conferred "by the 

5 plaintiff" here; the same is true of SSB. Contrary to Plaintiffs argument, the benefits conferred 

6 by absent class member:s are not t·.elevant pdor to cla,ss certification. Plaintiff's Complaint fails to 

7 adequately allege th<il first element of at11tnjust enri;ehtnent olait11 under Washington law. 

8 . Assuming lllinois law could apply here, the cla.im is eqtrally nonviable, both because unjust 

9 enrichment is not a separate claim and because Plaintiff has not adequately alleged State Fann 

10 benefited Hto the plaintiff's detriment'' The unjust enrichment claim is dismissed. 

11 v. Injunctive and Declaratory Relief 

12 Defendant State Farm argues :Plaintiff's requests for injunctive and declaratory .refief 

13 ·must be dismissed· because Plaintiffs injul'ies are adeqJJately addressed by monetary reliet The 

14 WCPApenni1s an injured person to ''bring a civil action ih superior court to enjoinJurlher 

15 violations, to recover the actual damages sustained by him or her~ or both; together with the costs 

l6 of the suit~ including a reasonableuttotney'sfee." RCW 19.86.90 (emphasis added). Meanwhile; · 

17 the Declaratory Judg111ent Act provides that ''[i]1) a qase of actual controversy within its 

18, jurisdiction [ ... ] any court of the United States [ ... ] n1ay declare the rights and other legal 

19 relations ofany interested party seeking such declaration, whether or not further relief is ot co-uld 

20 be sought." 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a). 

21 Defendant State Fann states the general standard forinjunctive relief, citing I<ttceta v1 

22 Stat.eDep'tofTrat1SP..:., 140 Wn. 2d 200, 209 (2000), but in that case a trial court was deciding 

23 whether to issue a preliminary injunction;iil.~ \Ph.gthefithe plaintiff had stated a claim for 

24 
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:3 b:iitsi:s tb:at:tb:¢:·pJaint1£fhad Qll t1deq\lf1te retn()dy at l~w, 'ititd: the Court ·declines to·-decideJhe issue 

4 ,at tliis.;~t~g:eiiir the proceeding. 

5, VI,. ·Class All~gations 

6 Finally} DQfenda\lts AJ;ks· that P-Inh1tlffls chass fillegatlott'bti struek unc!erFed~r{llltule Qf 

'7 Giv:ll J?1'(l<;t~d't:ltt:r lla(~. :(Pl<it, N'<Y~ ilP .tit: l-5.}0<wta1n distr,lct cott'rts hi tlris t;;;irettitbut outsidtrfl1i~': 

8 I3istttlc.ti1ttve pettt:xitted clu.ss afl~~atipn$:t9 'be stru,ckat the pleadings ~tage. See. e.g.1 Sahd;ets v. 

9 1\.pple Itrc., · 672 F .. Si1pp. -2d .~>78, 99:1 ~<N.D. G.al. ;g()Q9). ·p~<:lral Rule of Ci:vil P,rocedure 

lO .2'3{c )(l)~O):ittt~o p1·ovides tlial itl •a class actio11; a {;t~tltt 'iUS:¥ i•retp.:1ite tht~ t 'tl'tei[Jlea.dingt;-be· 

ll a111etnde~ ~<xeliminate·aJJ·(;!,g~Hon!$ ·l!bo'tit r~presentatiotlof·ab'sent pet'Sons and that the action 

12 pr6~t}'d aG~"rtiUn,!py.}'·IJfowever, m.o~t co:tttt$ 1;1¢cljne to strike cbi$s itllcgatio.rts,prlotto;a:.cbtss 

;l ~ : 'cettiflcati Oil; l11(5tion and an ~p]xortttli~.tytey ·Ctlnduct~li'~oo.vet:Y•- lee Ciuri V;. Sky Chc:)fs, 'NI). C·.t z;. 

14 Q2'705 DMRit ~o tl WL· Us92337; IM& ~N J'); Cal. May<(i,.20t3) (compiling cases)~ :'hx the· coritex.t 

:1$ \t>'f:Jb;l$ <t!;tse1 wbere the prop1;iety of a WCPA eii1:tthn by a i1ort .. Washi:ngton Plaintiff against both 

J:tS 'Wn~h:ington anrJ,l~on"'W:ash.i~+gtonP~fet>(h\tlfs has-.not Yet t~een decidedt the:nxotion to stdke i$ 

dmtied as I~1'ei'i.1ature; 

nr Th0 Mtitlons t~ .IJJsntiss Ptai11tiff;s m~ttst ¢1r:tdehn1ent ·ch1im. a~~e GRANTED f.ltld 'the 

20. Mtrtions tq Strike class allegations and the Motion to Distnifis .Plaintiffs reqn'6st :for injunctive 

~l :~tb'd de~l:t;ttatlltJ1ref1ef·~:rre DBNlEO·. Den\1l!thtnts' req~test to t~el'tify que11t1ot'!8 tcgarding t.b:e 

22 extt•atetdtodaf ~t11pHoat.ion. (tt(b.e WC;P/\Js (1RAN~l'ED; eetti'fied crue$tions will'ftillow itt-~ 
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1 , The clerk is ordered to pmvide copies ofthis order to all counsel. 

2 Dated this 6th day of March; 2015. 
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., ". / / . . . _;,. .. :.·. : 

Marshai Pec1llti$ .. . .. ·. · .· · 
ChiefUnitedStatesDistrict Judge 
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UNITED StATES DISTRICT COURT 
WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT SEATTLE 

SANDRA THORNELL, CASE NO. C14~1601 MJP 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

ORDER CERTIFYING QUESTIONS 
TO WASHINGTON SUPREME 
COURT 

13 SEATTLE SERV. BUREAU~ INC. and 
STATE FARM AUTO. INS. CO., 

14 
Defendants. 

15' ·---....,._;,.,;------------! 
16 

11. 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on Defendant State Farm Automobile Inswance 

Company's ("State Farm's) tequest in the altemative to certify the question of the Washington 

Consumer Protection Act's extraterritorial application to the Defendants in this case. (Dkt. No. 9 

at 13.) 

Background 

The Plaintiff in this putative class action is a Texas resident. (Dkt No. 1, Ex. A a:t 3.) 

According to the Complaint, the Plaintiff received allegedly deceptive debt collection letters 
23 A-3 Page 2 

24 
from Defendant Seattle Service Burean ("SSB"), a corporation with its principal place of 
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1 business hi Washington, putsuartt to the referral of unliquidated subrogation claims to SSB by 

2 · State F.flt:m, a corporation with its principal place of business in Illinois. (See llt) Plaintiffargues · 

3 :these letters constitute Consumer Protection Act violations by both SSB and State Farm. She 

4 alleges she incurred damages by signing up for a credit monitoring serv.ice and retaining counseL 

5 ilih at9.) 

6 The Court denied a Motion to bismiss in other respects relating to the WCPA c1ai1115 but 

7 did not re.ach a decision. with tespect to the extraterritorial application of the Washington 

8 Consumer Ptotection Act agah:ist Washington and Illinois defendants. 

9 Defendants argued that the Washington Consumer Protection Act does not apply 

10 • . extraterdtotially, citing a Washington Supreme Court opinion that was later withdrawn. Schnall 

11 ;v. AT&T Wireless ,Servs,. 'tnc., 168 W n.2d 125, 14 2 (2010) (''Schnall t'1
), ~pinioi1 w1th4rawn 

12 llll:t>n:reconsiderationbySchnall.v.AT&T Wireleoo:Servs, Inc., 171 Wn.2d2l}0 (2011) ("Schnall 

f3 If'). The superseding opinion contains the dissenting opinion ofthree justices who wouldha,ve 

14 speci:ficall y held that claims against Washington corporations are cognizable under the WCPA, 

15 whjle the majority declined to reach the issue. See SchhalJ II, 171 Wi1.2d 260; 287 (opinion of 

16 Sanders, J ,), The dissenting justices thought it was important that"[ a]t least one patty [itt the 

17 case] is native to Washington in every transaction here.'' l£L. 

18 In the wake of Schnall II, several judges in this District have held that the WCPA has 

19 extraterritotia1 application to claims by out ... of-state plaintiffs against Washington corp.orations 

20 based on the understood state ofthe law prior to Schnall I. 'See, e'.g., Keit111.¥V{ ltl't~Hus b.1e,, No. 

21 C09-1485RSL, 2011 WL 2790471, *1 (W.D. Wash. May 17, 2011); B,ajttgOJ'laltttl y •. N()teWor1d; 

22 LLC, No. Cl1~05574BHS, 2012 WL 727075, *5 & n.6 (W.D. Wash. Mar. 6, 2012); Peteu:;§.Q!l~:t~. 

23 Gtuoch Assocs. Nt>. 111 Ltd. Pal'hiei:Ship~ Nm cPPlW5669BHS, 2012 WL 254264, *2 (W.D, 

24 
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1 · Wash. Jan. 26, 2012). This case, however; relates to an Illinois corporation and its alleged 

2 Washington agent. No case. specifically holds that the WCPA. apJ1lies to a foreignplahttiff's suit 

3 ' agai11st a foreign corpotation, even <me that hired.a: Washington vendor to pursue tile conduct at 

4 issue. 

5 Furthermore, the Ninth Circuithas described th~ extraterritorial reach of the WCPA as an 

6 open question. See Red Lioi1 HotelsFtanchisin~ Inc~ :V • .MAJ(,~LLC, 663 F.3d 1080,1091 (9th 

7 Cir. 2011). 

8 Analysis 

9 Under Washington law, 

10 When in the opinion of any federal court befote whom a proceeding is pending, it is 

11 necessary to ascertain the local law ofthis state in order to dispose of such ptoceedh1g 

12 and the local law has not been clearly determined; su<;h federal court .may certify to the 

13 supreme court for answer the question oflooallaw hwolved and the supreme court shall 

14 render its opinion in answer thereto, 

15 RCW2.60.020. 

16 · The certification pro~ess serves the important judicial interests of efficiency and comity; 

17 According to the United States Supreme Court, certifi.cation saves "time, energy, and resources 

18 and helps build a cooperative judicial federalism.'')Jehmanl3ros. v. Schein, 416 U.S. 386, 391 

19 (1974). Because this matter presents a question about the extratet1'itorial application of an 

20 impottant Washington statute, it has potentially wide-tanging implications for the protection of 

21 out-of-state consumers from the allegedly deceptive acts of Washington corporations and the 

22 availability of Washington courts tbr the adjudication of nationwide class actions. The following 

23 questions are hereby certified to the Wash~gloR~eme Court 

24 
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2 l) Does the Washington Con·sumet Protection Act creat(;l a cause ofaction for a plaintiff 

3 residing outside Washington to sue a. Washington corporate defendant for allegedly 

4 deceptive acts? 

5 

6 i 2) Does the Washi11.gton Consumer Protection Act create a cause of 11ction for an out ... of· 

7 state plainti£fto sue an o:ut-of~state defendant .for the allegedly deceptive acts o:f its in~ 

8 state agent? 

9 

10. This Court does not intend its .framing of the questions to restrict the Washington 

11 ,Supreme Courf.s consideration o£ any issues that it detennines are relevant. If the Washington 

12 Supreme Court decides to consider the certified questions, it may in its discretion reformulate the 

14 2009). 

15 Condnsion 

16 This Court CERTIFIES the above questions and STAYS the action until :the Washingtot1 

17 Supreme Court answers the certified questions. 

18 

19 The Clerk of Court is direct~d to submit to the Washington Supreme Court. certified 

20 · copies of this Order and the Order on the Motion to Dismiss; a copy of the docket in the abovew 

21 captioned nJatter; and Docket Numbers l) 9, 12, 18, 21,221 and 26. The reeord so compiled 

22 contains all matters in the pending causes deemed material for consideration of the local~law 

23 questions certif1ed for answer. The Clerk iAfll~(§)l9iered to provide copies of this order to all 

24 counsel. 
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2 Dated this 6th da:y ofMarch; 2015. 
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Marsha J, .Pechinart · 
Chief United States District Judge 
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Tile Honorable Marsha J. Pechruan 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WASHINGTON 

AT SEATTLE 

SANDRA C. THORNELL> on behalf of 
herself and all othets similarly situated, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

SEATTLE SERV. )3UREAU, IN: C. d/b/a 
NATIONAL SBRV.l3UREAU} INC., and 
STATBFARM MUT. AUTO INS. CO., 

N0 .. 14-CV-01601 MJp 

AMENDED STIPULATION AND 
ORDER REGARDING BRIEFING QF 
CERTIFIED QUESTIONS TO 
WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT 

§TIPULATION 

P1aintif'fSandra C. Thornell's ("Plaintiff') and Defendants State Farm Mutual 

Automobilelnsutance Company and Seattle Service Bureau, Inc. d/b/a National Servi·ce 

Burl;'lau, Inc .. (together "Defend(l11ts'') {all together the "Parties") stipulate and agree to the 

following: 

l. On March 6, 2015, the Court entered an Order certifying the following questions 

to the Washington Supreme Court: 

l) Docs the Washington Consumer Protection Act create a cause of 

action for a plaintiff residing outside Washington to sue a 

Washillgton corporate defendant for allegedly deceptive acts? 
A-4 Page 2 
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701 Pike Street 
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2) Does the Washington Consumer Protection Act. create a cause of 

action for an out~of~state plaintiff to sue an otlt-of•state defendant 

for the allegedly deceptive acts ofits in"istaf(ntgent? 

Order Certifying Questions to Washington Supreme Court (Doc. 42) at 4, 

2. Pursuant to Washington RAP 16.16(e)(l), "[t]hefederal court shall designate 

who will file the first brief' on the certified questions ·with the'W ashington Supreme OotJtL 

3. Subject to the entry ofthis Court~s Order pursuant to Washingtbn 

RAP Hi 16( e)( l)~ the Parties stipulat~ that Defendants will file theit briefs fitst with the 

Washington Supreme Court on the certified questions. 

DATED this 11th day of Match 2015. 

BETTS> PATTERSON & MINES, P.S. 

By /s Joseph D. Hi!mntgn 
Joseph. D. Hampton, WSBA #15297 
DanielL. Syhre,WSBANO. 34158 

Betts, Patterson & Mines; P ,S. 
One Ccmventioll Place, Suite l4QO 
701 Pike Street 
Seattle WA 98101-392.7 
Telephone: (206} 292,9988 
Facsimile: (206) 343~ 1053 
EMmail: j1tmnpton@bpm1aw.com 
E~mail: dsyh:re@bpmlaw.com 

W1NSTON & STRAWN LLP 

By: {s . Thomas J. F:r.ederick _..._ 
Thornas J. Frederick (admitted pro hac vice) 
Neil M, Murphy (admitted pro hac vice) 

Winstm'l & Strawn LLP 
35 West Wacker Drive 
Chicago, IL 60601 
Telephone: (312) 558M5600 
n~mail: tfrcdcriok@winston.com 
E~mail: nmurphy@winst«m.com 

Attorneys for State Farm Mutual Automobile 
Insurance Company 
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ORDER 

SO ORDERED •. 

The clerk is ordered to provide copies of this order to all counsel and to the Washington 

Supreme Court. 

Dated this. 12th day of March, 2015. 
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ChiefUnited States District Judge 
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AMY COJC, et al,, Plaintiffs,. v. PHlLiPS ORAL llll:AL'rHCARE INC, Defendant. 

CASiNo. CU-518 MJP 

UNlTEU S'l'AT.IJ!S.DJSTRICT COURT FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF 
WASlllNGTON 

2014 U.S. Dlst •. LEXl/l 146469 

October 10,.2014~ Decided 
October 14,20141 Filed 

PRIOR HISTORY: Coe v. Philips Oral Healthcare, 
Inc., 2014 U.S; Dist.LEJ{IS 19186(W.D. Wash ..• Feb.14, 
2014) . 

COUNSEL: [*11 For Amy Gem, on behalf of herself 
and all others similarly situated, P1a1nt1ff: Roberti Lax, 
LEAD ATTORNEY, PRO HAC VICE, LAX LLP. 
NEW YORK, NY; Loti G Feldman, MILBERG (NY), 
NEW YORK, NY; Clifford A Cantor, SAMMAMISH, 
WA. 

For Robert Buesoo, on behalf of himself and all others 
similarly situated, Plaintiff: 'Robert 1 Lax. LEAD AT­
TORNEY, PRO HAC VICE, LAX LLP, NEW YORK, 
NY; Cliffot•d A Cantor, SAMMAMISH, WA. 

.For Lance Ng, Sam Chawla, Plaintiffs: Danicil E Sobel~ 
sohn, LEAD ATTORNEY, PRO HAC VICE, THE SO· 
BELSOHN LAW FIRM, LOS ANGELES1 CA; CliffOrd 
A Cantor, SAMMAMISH, WA. 

For Philips Oral Healthcare Ihc, Defettdant: Antonia 
Stamenova-Danoheva, Brian R England, LEAD AT­
TORNEYS, PRO HAC VICE1 SULLIVAN & CROM· 
WELL (CA), LOS ANGELES, CA; Jeffrey M Thomas, 
LEAD ATTORNEY, Jeffrey I Tilden, GORDON TIL~ 
DEN THOMAS & CORDELL LLP, SEAJTLE, WA; 
Michael H Steinberg, LEAD ATTORNEY, PRO HAC 
VICE, SULLtV AN & CROMWELl,, LOS ANGELES, 
CA. 

JUDGES: Marsha J. Pechman, Chief United States Ris5 
trict Judge. • 

OPINION .RY: Marsha J. Pechman 

OPINION 

ORDER ON MOTION TO DENY CLASS CERTIFI­
CATION AND MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT 

THIS MATTER comes before the Court on De­
fen.dant!s motl.on to deny certification of a nationwide 
class under the Washington Consumer [*Zl Protection 
Act (Dkt. N<>. 69) and motion for partial sun::unary judg~ 
ment on Plaintiffs' fifth and sixth causes of action (Dkt. 
No. 102). Having reviewed the motions, Plaintiffs' re­
sponses (Dkt. Nos. S3, 111), and Defendant's replies 
(Dkt. Nos. 87, 113)1 and all related papers, the Comt 
GRANTS the motion to deny class certi:ficati.on. and 
GRANTS the motion for sUltlUJ.ary JudJ1iment on Plain.­
tifes sixth cause of action. Plaintiffs' fifth cause of action 
is DISMISSED for lack of subjett matter jurisdiction. 

Racltground 

T})is putative class action seeks damages and equita­
ble rellef for purchasers of Defendant's allegedly defec· 
tive Sonicate .Diamond Clean, FlexCare, FlexCare+, 
Hea]thy White, EasyCleau1 a11d Sonlcare for Kids pow­
ered tootbbrusl.le~ and related replacement parts (collec­
tively, the "Toothbtushes"). (Dkt. Nos. 20, 90.) 

., 

The suit began whenPlaintiffAtny Coe filed a class 
action on behalf qfToothbrush purchasers citing, among 
othel' things, bt'each of Washin.gton and New Jersey state 
law. (Dkt. No. 1.) Approximately two months later, 

PagMa'intiffs Sam Chawla and Lance Ng filed a separate 
action with similar claims under Washington, Connecti­
cut, and New York state law. Chawla v. Philips Oral 
Healthcare, Inc., No. 13-cv-875-MJP, Dkt. No. 1 (*3] . 
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Plai:ntfffs Coe, Chawla, and Ng then filed a consolidated 
cotrtplaint incorporating alLc.laims • .(Dkt.No. 2()). 

Defendant asks the Court to preemptively deny cer~ 
tiflcation of a single nationwide class .under Washington 
law, and to gtant summary judgment on Plantiff Chaw­
la's Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act claim, Conn. 
Gen. Stat. § 42-liOa et seq. (Dkt. No. 20 at 39) and 
Plaintiff Ng!s claim under New .York's General Business 
Law f§ 349, 3.50 (Dkt. No. 20 at 42). Defendant argues 
that under Washington's cholce-oMaw rules, the laws of 
tfte Mnstlli'lets' hon1e states; and not Washington law, 
must apply to the]): claims. (Dkt. No. 69 at 7-.8.) Defend­
ant also: a~gues the claims of Plaintiffs Ng and Chawla 
are bart¢d by the a"j':!plicable statpte qf Hmita:tlons. (Dkt. 
No. 1(12 at.~,.lQ.) Plaittti'ffs cmitend Washington law ap­
.:pfies, ~ertificat1on is apptopri~te, and Plaintiffs' claims 
arenottime-barted. (Dkt. Nos', 83,1 ll.) 

1. Legal Standards 

A. Cla$5 Ct;Jrtiti.cation 

"A class action may be maintained iftwo conditions 
are, _met ~~ the, suit .must satisfY the criteria set fotth in 
;<?ubdlvi:'flon .(a) (i.e., nmuerosity, commonaHty, t)lpJcality 
and adequacy of representation), and it must also fit into 
one. ohhe three categoties:des!Jl'ibed in ~ubdMsfo!1 (b)." 
Bateman v. Am~ .Multi~Cinema, Inc., 64$ F.Jd .7(J8, 712 
(:9th dir. 2010), Certification [*41 1n thts matter is 
sought underFed. R .. Civ. P. 23(b)(3), whi<::hnecessitates 
a finding that common questions of law m· fact predomi~ 
nate 'and: that maititainittg the stilt as a class action is su­
pet'ior to other methods of adjudication. Fed R. Civ. P. 
23.(b)(3)~ Class certltlcation is ptop,er if and only if "the 
trial court is satisfied, after a rigorous analysis," that 
Plaintiffs have met their burden lmder Rule 23 •. Wal-mart 
Stores, Inc. v. Dukes; 131 .~~ct, 2541, 4551, l8i.J L. Ed. 
2d 374 (2011). 

B. Chol:ce of Law' 

A federal court sitting in diversity applies the 
choice-of~ law roles of its forum state to determine which 
substantive law controls. Atl. Marine Constr. Co. v. 
United States Dist. Court., 134 S. Ct. 568, 582, 187 L. 
.Ed. 2d487 (2013). Washington uses a two-step approach 
to choice-of-law questions. Kelley v.. Microsoft Corp., 

have the "most sign1flc:ant relationship!! to the action to 
determine the applicable Jaw. Id. 

C, Summary Judgment 

Federal R.ule 56(4) provides that the court ~halt gtant 
summaryjudgnlent if the movant shows that there is n:o 
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is 
entitled to [*5] judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. 
Civ. P. 56{4). In determining whether a factual dispute 
requir.ing trial existsl the court must vlew the record in 
the light most -ravotable to the nonmovant. Anderson v. 
Liberty Lobby, Ina., 477 U.S. 242, 255, 106 S. Ct; 2505, 
fH L. Ed. 2 d 202 (l98iJ). All material facts alleged by the 
nonmoving party at·e assumed to be true, and all infer­
ences mustbe drawn In that party's favor, Davis v. Team 
Elec. Co., 520 F.Jd 10801 1088 (9th Cit. :2008). 

A dispt~.te abollt a :material fact is "gent).ine" only if 
"the evidence is sue{\ that a reasonable jury could return 
a verdictfor'the nonmoving party.'1 Artder:san, 477 U.S. 
at 248. There is no genuine iB'sue ftir trial "Iw)here tlie 
record taken as a whole cm1ld not lead a rattonal trier of 
fact to find for the non-moving party.''' Matsushita Elec. 
lnc/u.~~ Co. v. ZenithR,adi() Corp.,475 U.S: 574, 587, 106 
S. Ct. 1348, 89 L. Ed. 2d 538 (1986). 

H. Preemptive Motion to Deny Class Certification 

Fed; R. Civ. P: 23 does not preclude affirmutive mo~ 
tions to deny class certification. In Vinofe v, Coun.to/Wide 
'Home Loans; Inc., 57'1 F.3d .935 (9th Cir. 1009), .the 
Ninth Cfrcuit affirmed the right bf defendants t() bring 
preemptive motions, provided that plaintiffs ate n()t pro• 
cedurally prejudiced hy the timlng of the motion. Jd. at 
944. 

No procedural prejudice exists here. Resolution of 
the class certification issue tums primarily on the 
choice·oMaw analysis, which determines whether 
Washington law or the .laws of putative class members' 
home states should apply. If Washington Jaw applies, 
common questions will predominate for a nationwide 
class, [*6,] and a class action may be efficient and de­
sirable, On the other hand, if the consumer protection 
laws ofthe consumers' home states apply, variations in 
the laws will overwhelm common questions; precluding 
certification. The relevant inquiry then is whether suffi.~ 
cient discovery has taken place to allow for the 
choice-of-law analysis. 

251 F.R.D. 544, 550 (W.D. Wash. 2008). First, courts Plaintiffs argue consideration ofthemotio:nis prem-
detemline whether an actual conflict between Washing- ature because they received Defendant's first production 
ton and other applicable state law exists. Id. A conflict of documents on the same day that their opposition to 
exists when the various states' laws could produceAiit Pagtli~motion was due. (Dkt. No. 83 at 4.) Plaintiffs .assert 
.ferent outcomes on the same legal issue. Id. In the ab- that it would be contrary to Vinole to deny certUiCation 
sence of a confllet, Washington law applies. Id. If a con- without permitting them to dev~lop facts to inform the 
flict exists, courts then determine the forum or fora that Court's choice-of-law analysis. Id. However, this Court 
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now :has pending before .it Plaintiff's affirmative motion 
for class certifitlation, filed after Plaintiffs had sufficient 
time to review documents and itiform the CoUl't of rele­
vant facts. 

Because Plaintiffs have had sufficienHHne to infortn 
the Cxn.nt oHacts t1;1levant to its choice-"of-Iaw analysis, 
and have prt;lsented those fu\5ts in 1h1;1ir Motion for Class 
Cettifioation (Dkt. No. 90), the Courhuay now properly 
consider Defendant's motioJl to deny certification. 

tn. Choice of 1*7) Law 

Defendant asserts, and Plaintiffs do not contest, that 
an actual conflict exists between the Washbtgton CQrt­
SJititef: Protection Act ("WCPA") artd the consumer pro.· 
t.etitkut laws ofother states. (Dkt •. No. 69 at9.) Because a 
conflict exists between WCP A and the consumer protec­
tion laws of the various st.ates where the Toothbrushes 
were purchased and used, the Court must apply Wash­
ington's most significant relationship test in order to de­
termine which law to. apply. Kelley; 251 F . .R;D. at 551. 
In adopting the approach of the Second Restatement of 
Law on Conflict of Laws (1971), Washington rejecttld 
the rule oflex loci delicti (the law ofthe place where the 
wrong took place)~ ld. Instead, Washington's testrequires 
courts .to. detennine which state. has the "most significant 
re1ationship11 to the cause of action. ld. lf the relevant 
contacts to the cause of action are balanced, the co.urt 
considers the interest•:; and public policies of potentially 
co11cemed states and the manner and extent of such poli­
cies as they relate to the transaction. I d. 

Washington has a significant relatiQnship to alleged 
deceptive trade practices by a Washington corporation. 
Washington has a strong interest in promoting a fi!.lr and 
honest business [*8] environment in the state, and in 
preventil1g its corporations from engaging in unfair or 
deceptive trade practices in Washington or elsewhere. 
Washington recognizes WCPA Claims asserted by 
noJHes!dent consumers against Washington co:tpo:ra"­
tions. K<?ithly v. Inielius Inc:, 2:09~cv-1485,RSL, 2011 
U.S. Dist. LEXJS 79133, 2011 WL 279047 I, * 1 (ffi.D. 
Wa:;h. May 17, 2011). 

Conversely, the putative class members' home states 
h.ave s~gnificant relationships to allegedly deceptive trade 
practicesresl!lting in injuries to their Citizens Within their 
borders. The Toothbrushes were sold and purchased, and 
representations of their quality made and relied on, en­
titel:Y outside of Wushington. No Plaintiff resides in 
Wa~hln&tton. While Plaintiffs contend Philips Oral 
Ht;lalthcare spent considerable time_ and resottrces ana­
lyzi:n~ the problem and attempting to fix it at t)i"'~ 
Washington f;:tcilities, thus increasing Washmgton's fe)a­
tiOilship to the action, the crttx of 'Plaintiffs* action in~ 
volves the rnarketing and sale of the T.oothbrushes, 

which totJk place :in tJther states, Furthetmor~, tht> Ninth 
Circuit recent~y recognized the strong interest of each 
state in detenninin$ the optfmum level ofponsumer pro'" 
tection balanced against a more favorable business envi­
ronment, and to calibrate its consumer [*9I protection 
laws to reflect their chose111Jalance. Mazza v. Am. Honda 
MotorCh., fnc,. 666 F. 3d 581 (9t/J Cil: .~012), 

In K~lley, th~s Court expla;ined that ln. dec¢ptive 
trade pra.ctice cases; the pJace.ofii.ljury is often ()flower 
itnportance than the place in which :the fraudulent con· 

· duct arqse, This is especially tru¢ in qa~¢$ ·where the al­
leged injo:ries are .~catteted tbrqughout the coui:iti'Y but 
st«;lmmed from a defendant's deceptive· ptactice in one 
state. Kefley, 151 F.R;D .. dt 5"52. Since &~lley, however; 
Washin.gto» has fortually adopted" § 148 oJ the Restate­
ment in the fraud and h1isrepresentatio.n context FJ.tture­
Select Porifolio Mgmt., Inc. v. 'fremont Grp. Holdings; 
Im;., /8() Wn.2il 954, 331 PSd 291 36 (2014). Section 
148 of the Restatement and its comments make clear that 
the alleged misrepresentation to consumers and the con­
s.umers' pecuniary f!Uuries, both of which occurred in 
consumers' home states and not fu Washington, should 
be cons.idered the most significant contacts-jn: this partic­
ular case, Restatement (Second) of.Lcrw on Conjlfot of 
Lmvs § 148 ,omts. i,j (1971) .. 

The Court agrees with, Defendant that consumers.' 
home states have the most significant relationship to 
their causes of action. Therefore, the consumer protec­
tion laws ofthose states, and not WCPA, apply. Matetial 
differences between the various consumer protection 
laws prevent Plaintiffs from demonstrating Rule23(b)(3) 
predominance and manageability for a Mfionwide cl<ti!S. 
Accotdingly, the Court GRANTS Defendant's motion to 
deny certification of [*10] a :natiot\Wide class under 
WCPA. 

IV .. Connecticut Unfuir Ttade Practices A!lt 

The .Parties agree thi$ Court lacks jurisdiction ovet 
Plaintiff Chiiwla!s Co!1necticut Utifair Trade Practic~Js 
Act ("CUTPA") claim ifthe WCl?A claim is dismissed. 
(Dkt; No. 113 at 2.) thete is no jurisdiction over Chaw­
la's claim under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 
("CAFA"} because Plaintiff Chawla dde$ not ~eek class 
certifi~::ation fur his CUTPA claim. (Pkt. No. 111 at 8.) 
There is no diversity jUl'lsdiotioll over Plamdff Chawla's 
claim because it tails to meet the amount in controversy 
requirement of 28U:S.C. § 1332. Id. 

As determined ih Section III, above., Washington's 
choice-of-law rules mandate application of the laWs of 

Pa,fu.esconsumers' hom.e states, not WCPA, PlaJntiffChaw­
ff~s CUTPA claim JS therefore PlSMISSED for lack of 
subject .matter jurisdiction. 
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v. New York Genera/Business Law§§ 349, 350 

Defendant contends that Plaintiff Ng\s claims under 
New Yol'k General Business Law ("NYGBL") §§ 349, 
350 are· time~ban·ed by New ·York's 'three-year statute of 
limitations. N.Y. C.P;L.R § 214 (MCKINNEY 2014). 
Plaintiff' Ng admits to filing his original complaint:more 
than three years after purchasing his toothbrush, the date 
which would have triggered the statute of limitations. 
(Dkt. No. 103-1 at 4142.) [*H) Ng c~ntends" however, 
that PlaintiffCoe's filing of her clas~ action - whlcl1 con­
tained no NYGBL claims - tolled his statute of :J~1uita­
tlons. (Pkt. No. lll at S; bkt. No, 1.) l!l other words, 
Pla:lntiff Ng claims cross-jurisdictional tollitlg, atgui11g 
his New Y()i:k statti law olaltn was tolled wben Plaintiff 
Coe filed her claims under the lawo£ another state, 

To support this use of cross~Jurisdictional toHl:ng, 
Plaintiff Ng cites the Supreme Ct:tures ho.lding hi A(JJ<l~i~ 
can Pipe & Construction Co. v. Utah 414 US. 53.8;. 94 
S. Ct. 7S6, 38 L. Ed. 2d 713 (1974). Thete, the State of 
Utah was denied class action status for a pdce rigging 
claim against Amedcan Pipe under the Sherman Act. 
Several towns, municipalities and water districts " all 
would-be members of the unsuccessful class - then flied 
motions to join in Utah's individual action, i!Jm~ Pipe & 
Constr. Co., 414 u;s, at 544. The district court denied all 
of the motions because they were filed after expiration of 
the statute oflimitatiottil. Id. Members of the unsuccess~ 
fuJ class tll:g,ued that tli!:).ir statJ1te ot'"'Hiriltations should 
have been ~piled. when the State of 'Qfa(t filed the ( un~ 
successful) motion for class action status. Id. The Su~ 
preme Court agreed - filing a class action on a federal 
claim tolls the statute of limitations for the claims of all 
potential class members regardless [*12] .of ultimate 
class certification. Am, Pipe & Comdr. Co, 414 U.S; .at 
554 (''[T]he nile most consistent with federal class action 
procedure must be that the commencement of .a class 
action suspends the applicable statute oflimitations as to 
all asserted 1nembers of the class who would have been 
parties had the suit been permitted to continue as a class 
action."). 

Here, Plaintiffs contend the rule of Ame1•ican Plpe -
which allows tolling within the federal court system in 
federal question class actions permits 
cross-jurisdictional tolling as a matter of New York state 
procedure. (Dkt. No. 111.) This ·is 'incorrect. 
Cross-jurisdictional tolling may be permitted where a 
class action is filed in. New York and makes claims under 
New York state law; it is not, however; petmitted where 
the class action was filed outside ofNew York and make 
no New York claims. ln re Bear Stearns Cos., Sees., 

Derivaliv~~ & .ERISA Litig., 995 F. Supp. 2d291, 2014 
U.S. Df.yt, LEXJS 14751, 48-49 (ti.D.N.Y. Feb. 3; 2014) 
("In. certain circumstances, aNew York statute oflim1ta­
tions may be tolled by the pendency of a class action, but 
Now York currently does not recognize tolling where 
that class action. is filed outside New York state court 
(so•callod 'cross.:jurisdictlonal tolling')"). 

When . a state legal syste.m, i$ tn:iclear on 
ctoss .... juris~Hetional tolling Federal c(lnrts do not goner~ 
ally introduce a rule. l*l3J See, e,g., Cleme.ns v. D(Jim~ 
let• Chrjis/er Cmp., 534 .F.Jd 1017, I 02 5 (9th Cfr. 2008) 
(qe~littlng to. import crossdUl'isdj¢tion~;~l class Mtlon toll~ 
in·g, into Califomia law), See also In rc; Fostirn(l)t Prody, 
£iahi .tittg., 6fJ4F., supp. 2clRS.$, 2ss (S.D.N.K 2olo) 
(gathering cases). :Because New York state law does not 

· t}.eJmit cross~jurisdi:cti.ortal tolling, this Court 
ltot allow PlalntiffNg to rely on Plain:tiffCoe's class 

acti.on fUing to toll his NYG)3L statute offhnitations. 

The • Court rejects Plaintiff Ng's aq~ument .• for 
erossdurisdlctional tolling of' the statute of limitations 
and holds that . his claims are time-barred. Defendant's 
.motion for surnn1ru·y Judgment on the NYGBL cause of 
action Is <Jib\NTED. 

Cmtdusion 

Under Washington's choice-of-law provisions; the 
laws of the consumers' home states, and not Washington 
law, apply· to theit claims. Material differences between 
the consumer protection laws of the relevant states 
overwhelm common questions, and Plaintiff'S are unable 
to demonstrate the predominance .or manageability re­
quired fot· class ce.rtlfication. Defendantis motion to deny 
certification •Of a nationwide class under WCPA is 
GRANTED. 

Having detel'mined that WCPA does not apply, the 
Court DISMISSES Plaintiff Chawla's CUTPA claim for 
lack of subject matter: jurisdiction. Plaintiff Ng's claims 
a,re time-barred by the applicable [*141 statute. of limi­
tations, and Defendautrs motion tor summary judgrnen.t 
as to his clahns is GRANTED. 

The clerk is ordered to provide copies of this order 
to aU counseL 

Dated this lOth day of October, 2014. 

Is/ Matsha J. Pechman 

Marsha J. Pechman 

Chief United States District Judge 
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RCW 19.86.010 
Deflnitio.ns. 

As used ill thls chapter: 

(1) "Person11 E~hf:ill include, where ~pplicable, natural persons, corporations, trusts, unincorporated 
assoclatlon$ and partnerships, 

{2) iiTrade" and '1commemei• shall include the sale of assets or ;services .. and any commerce directly or 
indirectly affecting the people of the state of Washington. 

(3} "Assets" shall .include any property, tangible or intangible; rea], personal, or mixed, and wherever 
situate, ahd any othedhing of value. · · 

[1961 :Q 2'16 § 1 .] 
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4/14/15 BUSINESS AND COMMERCE CODE CHAPTER 17. DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES 

Sec. 17.45. DEFINITIONS. As used in this sUbchaptet: 
(1) ~Goods" maans tangible chattels or real property 

p1,1rqhased or leased for use. 

(2) 'iServices" me,ans work, labor, or service purchased or 

lea>sed fo.r use, including services furnished in connection with the 

salB or repair of goods. 
(3) 11 Pe,rson" means an individual, partnership, 

corpoxation, association, or other groUp 1 however organized. 

(4) "Constimern m~ans an individUal~ partnership, 

corporation; this state, or a subdivision or agency of this s.tate 

who seeks or acquires by purchase or lease, any goods or serviues, 

except that the te:;·m does not include a business consumer that has 

.asse.ts of $25 million. or more, or that is owned or controlled by a 
corporation or ent.ity with assets of $25 million or more. 

(5) "Unconscionable action.or course of action 11 means an 
act or practice which, to a consumer's detriment, takes advantage 
of the lack o£ knowledge, ability 1 experience, or capacity of the 
consumer to a grossly unfair degree. 

(6) "Trade" and "commercen mean the advertising,. offering 

for sale, sale, lease, or di.stribution of any good or service, of 
any property, tangible or t.n tangible, re.al, pe.rsonal, or mixed, and 
any other article, CQmmodityr Or thing of Value, Wherever situated, 
and shall i.nclude any trade or commerce directly ot indirectly 

affecting the people of this state. 
(7) "Documentary rna terial" includes the original or a 

copy of any hook, record, report, memorandum, paper, communication, 

tabulation, map, chart, photograph, mechanical transcription, or 
other tangible docume.nt or recording, wherever situated. 

(8) "Consumer protedtion division" means the consumer 
protection division of the attorney general'$ effie~. 

(9) nKnowingly" means actual awareness, at the time of 

the act or practice compl~ined ofj of the falsity, deception, or 
unfairness of the act or practice giving rise to the consumer's 

claim or, in an action broughtA1Jf1Pfge2Subdivision (2) of Subsection 
(a) of Section 17.50, actual awareness of the act, practice, 
condition, defect, or failure constituting the breach of warranty, 
but actual awareness may be inferred where objective manifestations 

Wv\W.statutes.legis.state.txus/Docs/BC/hhn'BG.17.htm#i7.46 1/3 



4/14/15 BUSINESS AND coMMERCE CODE CHAPTER 17. DECEPTIVE: TRADE: PRACtiCES 

indlodL~ .!.,haL a person acted with actual awarene.ss .. 

(10) "Business consumer" means an individual, 

partnerahip, or corporation who seeks or acq~lires by purchQ.se or 

lease, any goods or services for coutmerciai or busines.<:; use. The 

te.rm does not include this state or a subdivision or agency of this 

state. 

( 11) "Economic. damages'' means compensatory damage,:,:> for 

pecuniary loss, including costs of repair and t·eplacem.ent, The 

term does not include. exemplary damages or damages for physical 

pain .and mental angui.sh, loss of consortium, disfigurement, 

physical impairment, or loss of compan.:ltmship and society. 

(12) 11 :Residence" means a building: 

(A) that is a single-family house, duplex, triplex, 

or quadruplex or a unit in a multiunit residential structure in 

which t.i tle to the individual units is tranederred to the owners 

under a condominium or cooperative system; and 

(B) that is occupied or to b~ occupi~d a~ th~ 

consumer's residence. 

(13) "Intentionally" .mean!:;) actual aw.areness of the 

; fals.ity, deception, or unfairnes,s of the act or practice, or the 

condition, defect, or failure constituting a breach of warr.anty 

giving rise to the consumer's claim, coupled with thB specific 

intent that the consumer act in detrimental reliance on the falsity 

or deception o.r in detrimental ignorance of the unfairne.ss. 

Intention may be inferred from objective manifestations that 

indicate that the person acted intentionally or f.torn facts showing 

that. a defendant acted with flagrant disrega.rd of prudent and fair 

business practices to the extent that the defendant should be 

treated as having acted intentionally. 

Added by Acts 1973, 63rd Leg., p. 322, ch. 143, Sec. 1r eff. May 

21, 1973. Amended by Acts 1975, 64th Leg.~ p. 149, ch. 62, Sec. 1, 

eff. Sept. 1, 1975; Acts 1977, 65th Leg., p. 600, ch. 21~, Sec. 1, 

e f f . M.a y 2 3 , 19 7 7 ; Act s 1 9 7 9 , 6 6th Leg . , p . 13 2 7 ; c h . 6 0 3 , · Sec . 2 1 
A-7 Pag_e 3 

e f f . Aug . 2 7 , 19 7 9; Acts 1 9 8 3 , 6 8 "E h Leg . , p . 4 9 4 3 r c h . 8 8 3 , Sec . 

2, 3, eff. Aug. 29~ 1983; Acts 1995, 74th Leg., ch. 414, Sec. 2, 

eff. Sept. 1, 1995. 

Amended by: 
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4/14/15 BUSINESS AND GOMMERGECO.Dl! GHAPTE;R 17. PEGEPTIVETRADEPRACTIC::ES 

Sec. 17.46. DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES UNLAWFUL. (a) False, 

misleading, or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any 

trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful and are subject to 

action by the consumer protection division under $.ections 17.47, 

17, 58, 17, 60, and 17. '61 of this code. 

(b) Except a$ provided in Suhsect.ion (d) of th.is section, the 

term /'false, ffiiSleetdi:ng, or deCeptive aCtS or practiCeS II inCludeS r 

but is twt limited to, the following acts • 

t1t passing off goods or services as those of another; 

(2) causing confusion or misunde:tsta.11ding as to the 

source, sponsorship, approval, or Q.ertific;ation of goods o.r 

services; 

(3) causing confusion or misunderstanding. as to 

affiliation, connection, or association with, o:t certification by, 
another; 

(4): using deceptive repre.sentations or designations of 

geographic or/igin in conn:ectibn with goods or services; 

f5) representing that gocrds or .se.t"vices have sponsorship, 

approval, characteristics, ingrediel"it.s 1 uses, benefits, ox:: 

quantities which they do not have" OJ:; that a person has a 

sponsorship, approval, status, a£filiation, o-r connection which he 

does not; 

(6) representing that goods are o.r:iginal or new if they 

are deteriorated, recon.di tioned, reclaimed, used, or secondhand; 
' 

(7) representing that goods or services are of a 
., 

pa.rticular standa.rd, quality, or grade, or that goods are of a 

particular style'or model, if they are of another; 

(8) disparaging the goods, services, or bUsiness of 

another by false or misleading representation of facts; 

(9) advertising goods or services with intent not to sell 

them as advertised; 

(10) advertising goods or services with intent not to 

supply a reasonable expectable public demand, un as the 

advertisements disclosed a lim3\:t:lftp~g6~ of quantity; 

(11) making false or misleading statements of fact 

concerning the reasons for, existence of, or amount of price 

reductions; 
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4/14/15 SUSJNESS:ANt:HiOMMERCE C.ODEOHAPTER 17. DECEPTIVETRADEPRACTICES 

(12) representir1g that an agreement cmife:i.:s or involves 

rights, remedies, or obligations which it does not have or involve, 

or wh~ch are prohibited by law; 
{13) knowingly making false or misleading statements of 

fact concerning the need fOr pa:r;ts:, replacement, or repair se.rvic.e; 

(14) misrepresenting the authority o.f a salesman, 

representativ.e or agent to negotiate the final ter.ms of a consumer 

transactio.n; 
(15) basing a charge for the repair of any item in whole 

or in part on a guaranty or warranty instead of on the value of the 

actual repairs made or work to be performed on the item without 

stating separately ths:; cbarges for the work and the charge for the 

warranty or guaral'nty, if any; 

(16) di.sconnecting, ·turning back, or resetting the 

odometer of any motor vehicl.e so as to reduce the number of miles 

indicated on the odometer gauge; 
(17) advert:J:.s.ing of any sale by f:r:audulently representing 

that a person. is goipg out of hus:l.ness; 
( 18) advertising,. selling-, or distrtbuting a card which 

purports to be a prescription drug' identification card issued under 

Section 4151 .1 , In.surano.e Code, in accordance with rules adopted 

by the commissioner of insurance, which offers a discount on the 

purchas.e of health care go.ocl.s or services from a third party 

provider, and whie:h is not, evidence of insurance coverage, unless: 

(A) the discount is autho.rized under an agreement 

between the seller of the card and the provider of those goodn and 

services or the discount or card is offered to members of the 

.seller; 
(B) the seller does not represent that the card 

provides insurance coverage of any kind; and 

(C) the discount is nat false, misleading, or 

deceptive; 

(19) using or employing a chain referral sales plan in 

connection with the sale or of£..;<grpagP3 sell of goods, merchandise, or 
anything of value, which uses the sales technique, plan, 
arrangement, or agreement in ~hich. the buyer or prospective buyer 

is offered the opportunity to purchase merchandise or goods and in 
connection with the purchase receives the seller's promise or 
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4/14/15 13\JSIN!;:SSAND GOMMERCE CODE CHAPTER 17. DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES 

reprGSentation that the hqyer shall have the right to receive 
compensation or consideration in any form for furnishing to the 

seller the names of other prospective buyers if receipt of the 
compensation or considerat,ion is contingent upon the occurrence of 

an event subsequent to the time the buyer purchases the merchandise 
or goods; 

·~· (20) representing that a guarantee or warrant.y confers or 

involves rights or remedies which it does not have or involve, 
provide'd., however, that ·nothing in this subchapte:r shall be 

construed to expand the intplied warranty of merchantability as 

defined in Sections 2.314 through 2.31B and Sections 2A.212 through 
2A.216 to involve obligations in excess of those which are 

appropriate to the goods; 

( 2,1). promoting a pyramid promotional scheme, as defined 
by Sect~on 17.461; 

(22) representing that work or services have been 

performed en, o.t parts replaced in, goods when the work or services 
were not performed or the parts replaced; 

(23} filing suit founded upon a written contractual 
obligation of and signed by the defendant t;o pay money aris.:Lng aut 
of· o.r :based on a consumer transaction for goods, services, loans, 
or extensions credit intended primarily for personal, fam.ily, 
h.ouseh6ld; o.r agricultural use in any county other than in the 

county in which the defendant resi~es at the time of the 
commencement of the action or in the county in which the defendant 
in fact signed the cont.ract; provided., however, that a violation of 
this subsection §3hall not occur where it is shown by the person 

filing such suit he neither knew or .had reason to know that the 
county in which such suit was filed was neither the county in which 
the defendant resides at the commencement of the suit no·r the 
county in which the defendant in fact signed the contract; 

(24) failing to disclose information concerning goods or 
services which was known at the time of the transaction if such 
failure to disclose such information was intended to induce the 

, A-8 Page 4 
consumer into a tra.nsaction 1.nto whlch the consumer would not have 
entered had the information been disclosed; 

(25) using the term "corporation," "incorporated," or an 
abbreviation of either of those terms in the name of a business 
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4/14715 BUSINESS AND COMMERCE CODE CHAPTER 17. bECEPTlVE: TRADEPRACTiCES 

entity that is noL inco.r:porated under the l.aws of this $tate, or 

another jurisdiction; 

(26) selling, offering to sell, or illegally promoting an 

annuity contract Under Chapter 22, Acts of the 57th Legi.slatu;r.e, 

3rd Call~d S~ssion, 1962 (Article 622Ba-5, Vernon's Texas Civil 

Statutes) 1 with the intent that. the annuity :co.ntract will be, the 

subject' of a s ary reduction agteemet1t, as defined by that Act, if 

the annuity contract is not an eligible qualified investment under 

that Act or is not registered with the Teacher Retirement system of 

Texas as required by Section 8.A of tha.t Act; or 

(27) taking advantage of a disaster declared by the 
governor under Chapter 418, Gov~rnment code 1 by~ 

(A) sell.ing or leasing fuel, food, med::Lcihe, or 

another necessity at an exorbit.ant or excessive pric~; or 

(B) demanding an exorbitant or excessive price in 

connection with the sale or lease of fuel, f.oocl, medicine; or 

arwther .necessity. 

{c) (1) It is the intent of the legJslature that·. in cons.truing 

Subsection (a) of this section in su.its brought undel;' Section 17.47 

of this subchapter the courts to the extent possible will be guided 

by Subsection (b) of this section and the interpretat.ions given by 

the b'"'ederal Trade Commission and federal courts to Section 5 (a) (1) 

of the Federal Trade Commission Act [15 U.S.C.A. Sec. 45.(a) ('1) ], 

( 2) J:n construing this ,subchapter the court shall not be 

prohibited from cons.idering relevari.t and pertinent decisions of 

courts in other jurisdictions. 

(d) For the purposes of the relief authorized in Subdivision 

(1) of Subsection (a) of Section 17.50 of this subchapter, the term 

"false, misleading, or deceptive acts or practices" is limited to 

the acts enumerated in specific subdivisions of Subsection (b) of 

this section. 

Added by Acts 1973, 63rd Leg., p. 322, ch. 143, Sec. 1, eff. May 

21, 1973. Amended by Acts 1971, 65th Leg~, p. 601, ch. 216, Sec. 
A-:& £rure 5 2, 3, eff. May 23, 1977; Acts I9~T'l', 65th Leg., p. 892, ch. 336, 

sec . l , e f f . Aug . 2 9 1 1 9 7 7 ; Acts 1 9 7 9 , 6 6th Leg . , p . 1 3 2 7 , c h . 

603, Sec. 3, eff. Aug. 27, 1979; Acts 1987, 70th Leg., ch. 280, 

Sec. 1~ eff. Sept. 1, 1987; Acts 1993, 73rd Leg., ch. 570, Sec. 6, 
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4114/15 BU.$1NE8S AND COMMERCE CODECHAPTER 17. DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES 

eff. Sept. 1, 1993; Act.s 1995, 74th Leg., ch. 414 1 sec. 3, eff. 

Sept. 1, 1995; Acts 1995r 74th Leg., ch. 463, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 

1, 1995; Acts 2001; 77th Leg., ch. 962, Sec. 1, eff. Sept. 1, 

2001; Acts 2001 1 77th Leg., ch. 1229, S~c. 27, ef£. June 1, 2002; 

.Acts 2003, 78th Leg.t ch. 1276, Sec. 4.001(a), eff. Sept. 1, 20Q3. 

Amended by: 

Acts 2005, 79th Leg., Ch. 728 (H.B. 2018), Sec. 11.101, eff. 

September 1, 2005. 

A.cts 2007t 80th Leg., R.S., Ch. 1230 (H.B. 2427) 1 Sec. 26, 

eff. September 1, 2007. 
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